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  We have all experienced abandon—and to be abandoned is to truly gain an understanding of oneself.


  







  



  
INTRODUCTION





  

     And you will face the sea of darkness, and all therein that may be explored.




  —LUCIO FULCI







  Kenopsia




  n. The eerie, forlorn atmosphere of a place that is usually bustling with people but is now abandoned and quiet . . . an emotional afterimage that makes it seem not just empty but hyper-empty, with a total population in the negative.




  Ghost towns. The mind immediately conjures the old west archetype: rough-hewn assemblages of stores, saloons, boarding houses, and brothels standing in contrast to the desert.




  But here, too, in New England, there have been numerous towns abandoned, neglected, wiped, or washed out or made obsolete.




  Former mill, mining, and logging communities representing humankind’s propensity to descend in waves on valuable resources, then just as hastily depart when those have been depleted. Onetime villages mercilessly drowned in the name of progress. Erst-while beachside hamlets and lavish resorts eternally shunned by tourists. Towns whose inhabitants simply vanished—sometimes, truly overnight—or were cruelly expelled; others whose populations achingly withered.




  They were discarded with the precipitous rises and falls of industry, economy, culture—or in some cases, due to sheer survival necessity.




  Their remains left falling into ruin are often cloaked in the midst of the overgrown lands where they were once prominent—mere fragments, hints, shadows. In some cases, they have left behind tangible remnants: cellar holes, stone walls, and other structures sinking back into the earth they once claimed and lost among trees that have defiantly grown up amidst them; once well-maintained paths and roads leading off to some oblivion; tombstones blanched and scoured by time slanted against one another as if in comfort.




  Some have been saved; others reclaimed or repurposed; many, in more recent years, attracting the morbidly curious, the historically inclined, the seekers of the paranormal. They have become asterisks to history or comprise more substantial paragraphs and chapters in humankind’s playbook. They are contrastingly richly detailed, or scantily, sterilely documented.




  Because the region was the first in the country to be settled by colonists, the number of ghost towns is immeasurable; certainly, too many to include here.




  They are but whispers, sighs, of what they once were. And if we listen closely, we can hear their stories.







  



  PART I




  MAINE




 

    Boards on the window.




  Mail by the door;




  What would anybody leave so quickly for?




  —THE BAND







  The largest land-wise of the New England states, Maine is abundant with natural resources—hundreds of miles of coastline; thousands of offshore islands; rivers, lakes, ponds, mountains, forests, fields, even a desert.




  All that space has also meant that many a town has come and gone—built up, torn down, washed away, rebuilt, or left to disappear back into the earth.


  







  



  ONE




  BOOBYTOWN Expelling the Poor, Tired, Weary




  THEY LIVED IN EARTHEN MOUNDS, DUGOUTS IN THE SIDES OF hills, underground caves, or ramshackle, crudely assembled log cabins—families crammed together into close, primitive quarters, often right alongside their livestock. Some resorted to wearing shingles for shoes or subsisted on what berries and raw dandelions they could scavenge.




  They were the outcasts, the unmentionables, the Misérables, left to fend for themselves in the rough Maine wilderness.




  Cities are often ashamed of their poor and destitute. There’s the old cliché—based, unfortunately, on real-life circumstances—of those living on the “wrong side of the tracks,” the projects, the areas of town that “good people” go out of their way to avoid.




  Somewhere around the quarter-century or half-century mark of the 1800s, Lewiston, Maine, decided to do something about its deplorable “unwashed.” The once prospering mill city was experiencing an economic depression, and its growing population of the poverty-stricken, beggars, and so-called freeloaders were straining its welfare budget—and, as far as city leaders, businessmen, and the more fortunate Lewistonians were considered, something had to be done.




  The solution? Round up these unwanted and unwelcome and ship them out of Lewiston some 85 miles away to the Lower Dallas/Rangeley area all the way up in the mountainous northwest corner of the state (not far from Maine’s ragged, present-day border with Quebec).




  As noted in a February 1877 issue of Lewiston’s Evening Journal: “These undesirables were moved at a distance of untold miles into the wilderness of northern Maine.”




  A MEAGER EXISTENCE




  Not long after relocation, the area came to be known as “Booby-town”—named for its most populous French-Canadian immigrant Bubier family. At one time, there were estimated to be 200 people living in the settlement’s squalor.




  The outcasts were given some potato seeds, occasional provisions, and annual trifling relief funds by their former city, but were otherwise left to build their own makeshift housing and survive in what more recent vernacular would be considered shantytowns or “tent cities.”




  One of the Bubiers, for example, was cramped into a two-room shack with his wife and six children; half of this space, however, was reserved for the family cow. The Evening Journal reported that they had no chairs or beds, and that the paterfamilias and his brood were dressed in sewn-together rags, were unable to read or write, and that they resorted to sleeping on the cold dirt floor.




  Many more residents lived in filthy conditions alongside pigs and chickens. Reports were that there was no doctor in town, and that none ever visited the impoverished colony.




  Still, Boobytowners somehow managed to survive by gathering berries and other greens; growing a paltry number of potatoes, cabbages, and wheat; and hunting and fishing. Much of this was hauled for miles to nearby towns to trade for more substantial provisions.




  Despite their living conditions and way of life, they were considered by more affluent locals to be honest, fair-trading, and hard-working (for what little they had to work with, that is). And in fact, more Bubiers than any other family in the Rangeley area served in the Civil War.




  For its part, Lewiston’s support of the downtrodden colony ranged from $100 to $500 a year depending on available funding and the general public’s feelings of generosity. An 1856 annual report of the overseer of the poor, for example, claimed doling out “on account of persons off the poor farm”—namely the Bubiers—$176.14. Nine years later, in 1865, residents were collectively given $168.79.




  Conditions improved, ever so slightly, when the narrow-gauge railroad came into adjacent Rangeley; the Sandy River and Range-ley Lakes Railroad was the longest of five two-foot-wide railways that once serviced the state and were unique to Maine.




  Boobytowners began to eke out livings by lumbering and manufacturing shingles that were transported via train to more populated environs. And the shingles served a double purpose: One Paul Bunyan-sized Bubier was said to wear them as shoes, even heating them up in the winter to stand on while chopping wood or performing other chores (this because his family owned only one pair of shoes and used them sparingly). That same Bubier purportedly became so hungry at times that he ate dandelions, raw and directly from the field like a grazing animal.




  With the advent of the railroad, residents also erected a sawmill and schoolhouse, where regular Sunday services were held by amateur town preachers. Ministers from adjacent towns did pass through the settlement once in a great while, and they and other visitors—what few there were—were shocked at the deplorable conditions. One local genealogical researcher, Shirley Adams, wrote about two Lewiston overseers who visited the colony in 1875 and returned with a “very melancholy report.”




  Despite some resultant public outcry from Lewistonians, Boobytowners refused to be relocated back to Lewiston. Because it was all they knew—and perhaps they were still irked at being thrown out of the city—many continued with their scant existences in the Franklin County wilderness.




  Eventually, though, the Sandy River Rangeley Lakes Railroad ceased to run. (Today, a nonprofit is dedicated to preserving and restoring it.) The mills soon shut down and Boobytowners began to filter away.




  The area became abandoned. Many of the Bubiers, perhaps to shed their family’s label of poverty, replaced their surnames with Flagg, Thomas, and Withey (or Whitney). Many of them are buried in the Bubier Cemetery in Upper Dallas or the Bubier-Green-Stuart Cemetery in Dallas Plantation. Their dozen or so headstones range from the 1840s to the 1940s, but many more remain unmarked.




  Much like the eschewed names, not much exists in public record of Boobytown: Many documents pertaining to its existence were destroyed when the Lewiston City Hall burned beyond recognition in 1890.




  Popular opinion seems to dictate that the village of outcasts remains a black mark on Maine history—one that many, including its now deceased residents and their ancestors, would rather wipe from memory.







  



  TWO




  DAVIDSONThe Community Away




  THE TOWN WAS ONCE TEEMING WITH LIFE: NUMEROUS HOMES and families; a hall with lively dances and screenings of “moving pictures”; teams of dozens of horses that hauled lumber from the outlying woods; a thrumming factory; prize, award-winning Holstein cows that people from all over came to view and purchase during “Field Days.”




  But the small community of Davidson in north-central Maine had a short, albeit thriving, lifespan. After just a couple of decades, the unorganized township simply ceased to be—a casualty of the 1929 stock market crash, the ensuing Depression, and a floundering lumber trade.




  Today, not much is known about life there, besides the semi-fictionalized account, “Ollie’s Davidson” by Nina Way Lord. Penned in 1988 and based on her family’s experiences, the book shows us the lumbering and factory town in 1922 through the eyes of a ten-year-old girl.




  Way Lord laments of the loss: “It is time that someone wrote a story about Davidson, lest even the memory of it depart.”




  Located west of Stacyville, nestled at the base of Mt. Katahdin and present-day Baxter State Park, the land that would come to be Davidson was purchased by Ora Gilpatrick in 1901.




  At the time, the six-and-a-half-mile tract containing roughly 25,000 acres was so thick with timber that “one would hardly have noticed, from the train, the little lake, known as Davidson Pond, upon the shore of which the little hamlet of Davidson now nestles,” notes a writeup from the late 1910s.




  Still, the wealthy Gilpatricks never had any intentions of establishing a town.




  Ora, a bank president and successful businessman versed in the lumbering trade, simply had the goal to cut the profitable timber on the unsettled, heavily wooded land and then move on—thinking that this could be accomplished in about ten years.




  But as later reported, “Ten years, a dozen years, rolled by with the end still a long way off.”




  Gilpatrick and his sons Victor and Rex then decided to clear a small portion of their holdings to operate a dairy farm to supplement their successful Summit Lumber Co. With a keen eye on further expansion, they soon came up with the idea to manufacture clothespins from the timber they harvested. A mill went up, as did several homes, two boarding houses and a one-room schoolhouse; a town office, post office, general store, blacksmith shop and dairy; not to mention a combined dancing hall and cinema. The town was even furnished with wooden sidewalks, which became a source of pride for residents.




  The nearby railway also laid tracks into town, and the town once boasted a station where trains stopped six times daily (except on Sundays).




  At its height, Davidson had 92 horse teams that hauled lumber from the outlying woods, and its mill employed 65 women and men who churned out 123.8 million pins a year. It was said that the wooden block used to make them, if laid end to end, would have extended 9,722 miles—or roughly two-fifths of the distance around the world.




  Davidson Summit Farm, meanwhile, shipped daily loads of milk and cream; it also produced one hundred acres—or about ten railcar loads—of potatoes and 5,000 bushels of oats every year.




  Then there were its prized Holsteins. The first was purchased in 1913, and ensuing offspring were known for their excellence, garnering state, and New England champion records. In fact, the town held “Field Days” that attracted people from all around. An early clipping from the Bangor Daily News even described the farm and its expositions as one of Maine’s best.




  Several generations of cattle were bred and sold, with sales literature at the time listing their ages, butter and milk outputs, and (at least to those not familiar with the trade) droll names and descriptions.




  For example, one six-year-old “dam” (or the mother of a calf) produced 876 pounds of butter and 23,000 gallons of milk in a year (making her a record-holder). Another four-year-old dam produced 30.50 pounds of butter and 659.1 gallons of milk over a seven-day period.




  These female and male cows and bulls bore names like King Walker Johanna, Summit Sarcastic Beets, Roxland Brua Korndyke, and Summit Lota Huntress. Ads noted of one of the original foundation cows, Blanche Pauline de Kol: “You should be interested in her daughter and granddaughter and other relatives,” while Marion Walker de Kol the second was plainly described as thus: “Maybe you would rather have her son.” And Marion Clover Blossom the third? She was “a New England champion developed in the herd.” But “she is now old and blemished.”




  One brochure from the 1910s emphasized: “REMEMBER: The Summit Lumber Co. has never gone in for extreme production. The herd was founded for practical reasons and has been operated upon a practical basis.” The policy has been a normal production with the cows producing calves regularly, and cattle have not been “stuffed to the limit with the highly concentrated feeds . . . the result has been good strong rigorous calves and a healthy profitable herd at the pail.”




  A WAY OF LIFE




  In her memoir, Way Lord underscores townspeople’s admiration of their resident Holsteins, as well as their delight in Davidson’s celebrated field days.




  She also describes the wealthy Gilpatricks, who owned the largest houses in town and had their own private wells, and other notable family names such as Estabrook, Nye, Boone, Knox, Moody, Smith, and Cameron. Twenty-five to thirty women spent their days “packin’ clothes pins” on both hot and cold days in the “weather-beaten” factory sprawled beside Davidson Lake (which was unsuitable for swimming or fishing on account of its sinking, muddy bottom). Male and female coworkers lived in separate boarding houses, while lumbermen lived in camps in the woods all year round.




  For his part, her father worked in the dark, low-ceilinged blacksmith shop, while her mother washed men’s shirts for ten cents apiece. And since Davidson was an unorganized township, the state looked after its school, with the state superintendent coming in a few times a year from the Augusta capital.




  There was a woman from Sherman who visited once a week to give music lessons for a quarter a piece; a peddler from Millinocket who hawked her wares twice a month; various tramps who hopped off railcars only to be rounded up by residents.




  Way Lord also fondly recalls children roaming through the surrounding thick woods but never getting lost, and the movies and dances that were held each week in the gathering hall. The silent picture showings cost a dime, while dances were free (and quite a sight, as the normally quiet, drably attired girls who worked in the mill dressed up in their finest and drew stares from all that passed).




  Ultimately, she writes, “Ollie couldn’t imagine why anyone would want to leave Davidson.”




  But in the end, they had no choice. The year 1929 brought along with it the decimating Black Friday, prompting the Gilpatricks to sell Davidson to a Maine senator. Lumbering operations slowed, then halted, the mill shut down, and by 1931 what was once a town was no longer. The hard-working Yankees who lived, worked, and raised their families there began filtering out to other places.




  Today, intrepid explorers to the remote, overgrown site can find scant remnants of foundations; one large collapsing brick smokestack, another of metal felled and disintegrating; a moss-covered safe and other indiscernible metal fragments. With time, they continue to crumble and rust as they are absorbed by the earth.




  “Only trees, wild animals, and memories remain,” Way Lord laments of the town, lost even to time 35 years ago at the time of her writing. “This is not even a ghost town, for there’s no longer a place for a ghost to hang out, unless he could cling to part of a crumbling wall, hidden in overgrown bushes.”




  And she offers the simple but somber eulogy: “The town is no more.”







  



  THREE




  FLAGSTAFFDrowned in the Name of Progress




  ALL OF A SUDDEN, IT REAPPEARED LIKE A WATERY PHOENIX.




  In winter 1979, drought caused Flagstaff Lake—which had been raised in 1949 to create a reservoir and support a large system of dams downstream along the Kennebec River—to recede, and the Dead River flowed through the area once more.




  So, thirty years after it was sacrificed, as if to commemorate a somber anniversary, the remnants of the small town of Flagstaff rose (briefly) from the depths of the lake that had drowned it.




  Locals marveled at the ability to walk the hamlet’s Main Street once again, and to find that, despite being submerged in water for decades, its tar roads were still mostly intact, even solid. Even though much of the town had been dismantled and burned to make way for the reservoir, many cellar holes remained; some old timers could ably locate the stone foundations of their former homes and those of their neighbors and friends.




  Also visible were the rotting remains of machinery that once provided electricity for much of the town; gas pumps at one of the local general stores; fragments of a hotel and boat rental that had once been a popular destination for locals and out-of-towners alike. And the long cement steps of another town store rose up to the sky as if in defiance of its demise.




  As the drought abated and the former town was once again swallowed up by water, the brief glimpse of its ruins was a stark reminder of all that had been literally washed away in mankind’s constant quest for progress.




  Between 1949 and 1950, the small Maine towns of Flagstaff and Dead River were flooded beneath Flagstaff Lake and residents were forced to relocate or raze their homes and evacuate. With little notice and no choice, many complied; yet some holdouts didn’t.




  Today Flagstaff Lake is the fourth largest in Maine (a state known for its thousands of water bodies, big and small), that supports the Long Falls Dam, which regulates the flow of Dead River into the Kennebec. With a surface area of 20,300 acres, its storage capacity is more than 275,000 acre-feet.




  Flooding of towns for reservoirs and dams is a practice that goes back decades—an unfortunate price to support national growth. For the benefit of the majority, many have had to make great sacrifices.




  Which was the ultimate fate of Flagstaff and Dead River, a forfeiture that continues to resonate to this day.




  BEFORE THE FLOOD




  With a combined population of a mere few hundred residents, the two towns were located in the northwestern Maine mountains just twenty-some odd miles from the Quebec border. The Dead River snaked through their low-lying location, and their townships offered handsome views of Bigelow Mountain.




  And while the origins of the name Dead River seem to be lost to time, the roots for Flagstaff—both the town and the name—hold a unique place in history.




  In the early days of the American Revolutionary War in the fall of 1775, Benedict Arnold and a detachment of 1,100 men were on their way to attack the British stronghold in Quebec. Following the Kennebec River, they first paused at Fort Western (in the modern-day capital of Augusta), then again battened down for respite at the base of a long mountain ridge. So, the story goes, a flagstaff (or flagpole) was erected from a tall juniper tree, and Major Timothy Bigelow climbed to the summit “for the purpose of observation.”




  The contingent moved on, the flagstaff was left behind, and the mountain was eventually named after the major who hardily ascended it. And until the town was engulfed in water in 1950, a flagstaff continuously marked that very spot.




  Settlers began arriving in the early part of the nineteenth century, lured by the timber resources and the rich soil in the Dead River floodplain. They cleared the land for cabins, a sawmill and gristmill, then family homes, a church, school, post office, general store, blacksmith shop, community hall, and even a small hotel.




  By 1860, Flagstaff was a thriving plantation, and it was described in a volume of History and Description of New England as having some “excellent farming land,” while its families were making “good progress in the settlement.” Those families included Viles, Savages, Wings, Hines, and Taylors, and their heads of households made livings as lumbermen, rivermen, and guides. At the time of the Civil War, Flagstaff’s population was around 75; Dead River’s was roughly 100.




  For the next near-century, the towns remained vibrant—despite their remote locations—continuing to grow and establish themselves in the lumbering and recreation trades.




  That was, until 1949.




  
THE FLOODWATERS




  The first tolls of the death knell actually started several decades earlier, with Walter Scott Wyman, co-founder of Central Maine Power (CMP), who is credited with the widespread electrification of the state. A native of Oakland, Maine, who studied electrical engineering at Tufts University, he and business partner Harvey Eaton began their enterprise with a simple generator; this provided street lighting and electric service to about 100 residents of his hometown.




  But the pair quickly expanded their sights and reach, purchasing small electrical producers across central and northern Maine to create the overreaching CMP entity (founded in 1910, still in existence today and servicing much of the state). They began building hydroelectric dams, combining the electrical output of absorbed companies and also purchased controlling shares in Maine’s largest cotton textile mills and began renovating their obsolete, decades-old power systems.




  Because continued population growth and burgeoning industry required more output, Wyman and Eaton identified the need for a large-scale dam and reservoir that could control the waters of the Kennebec River.




  For this purpose, it didn’t take them long to focus in on Flag-staff Pond—the location was prime because it was the only one of any size with an elevation low enough to be covered by a future reservoir. Such an endeavor, once completed, would increase Maine’s hydroelectric output by thousands of kilowatts, regulate and augment the flow of water into more than a half-dozen smaller dams located along the length of the Kennebec, and control flooding.




  Working with two other large, growing entities, CMP soon began purchasing, and clearing, parcels in the surrounding area.




  Murmurings began among locals, who saw the clearing taking place and hearing the news of their neighbors selling off their land to speculators.




  In 1923, the public’s fears were realized when a bill was introduced in the state legislature to incorporate the Kennebec Reservoir Company, whose purpose was to dam up the Dead River. A headline from the Lewiston Journal in March 1923 reflected public sentiment: “Will the Little Maine Village of Flagstaff Be Wiped Out?”




  The contentious bill didn’t pass. But anxiety remained—and for good cause. A few years later, the state approved a measure that created the Dead River Storage Company, and the residents of Flagstaff and Dead River learned of their ultimate fate: They were to be flooded, their town taken from them. Also to be doused: The tiny townships of Bigelow and Carrying Place.




  Now moving quickly on a project that had been held up by political infighting for more than a decade, CMP had hundreds of workers cutting and clearing trees and burning brush to clear the flowage area. The company began sending letters to residents in affected areas; agents were deployed to go door to door with the somber news.




  Hundreds of families, with no other choice, sold their homes and properties, packed up what they could, and left. Some structures were towed away intact to outlying towns such as Eustis. Others, including not only residences but a schoolhouse, Congregational Church, mill, store and Masonic lodge, were dismantled and rebuilt elsewhere. The dead were disinterred and moved to new places of rest, notably Eustis Ridge Cemetery. Businesses took compensation and either folded or relocated. Larger and larger pieces of land came to be owned by CMP.




  By November 1949, the waters of Dead River were swallowing up the land, by then largely barren and burned, with a few abandoned buildings and other last vestiges strewn about. The waterway was backing up behind Long Falls Dam, which would be completed in 1950. It took weeks for the waters to creep up over the 20,000 acres of lost towns—an experience that many likened to a slow death.




  Now owned and operated by Brookfield Renewable Energy, the dam is a prominent fixture at 45 feet high, 1,339 feet long, with a 450-foot concrete spillway. The reservoir behind it is roughly fifty feet at its deepest.




  As Marilyn Rogers-Bull aptly notes in her four-part series in The Town Line newspaper on the damming project: “Like all progress, it will not be accompanied without some heartaches.”




  RAZING LIVES




  In 1949, as the lake’s waters slowly crept up the landscape toward the ill-fated towns, Flagstaff consisted of about 20 families, many of whom were born there and had always lived there.




  Although talk of the damming and reservoir project had been going on for years, they were still stunned by the news that they would soon be homeless.




  Many had already moved away to nearby towns. Some, though, refused to give in, resolute to hold out to the bitter, watery end.




  Many steadfast residents even continued on with business as usual, holding a regularly scheduled annual town meeting in March. Waterville Morning Sentinel columnist Clayton LaVerdiere wrote about the proceedings: “A gallant little town that is slated to die came out with one last, bold gesture of defiance here tonight.”




  As longtime town clerk Perry Burbank told reporters, “We’re still looking ahead as if nothing ever happened.”




  About thirty Flagstaff voters, many of them “bronzed woods-men and their wives” gathered in the town’s tiny schoolhouse “in a businesslike manner that belied the apprehension lurking in the hearts of all.” In this, they “studiously avoided discussing the numbered days of a community that will probably, by next March, be at the bottom of a lake.”




  Even as hundreds of workers cleared land for the massive project, townspeople voted and appropriated more than $11,000 for twenty-five warrant articles, dropping their ballots into a hat as they had for as long as they could remember. Among their decisions was reelecting Perley Stevens as road commissioner and allocating $1,000 for an “Old Home Day” that many recognized would be a final farewell.




  Many, including seventy-six-year-old Captain Cliff Wing, who had lived in town for more than a half-century, lamented of the loss to gathered reporters. Nobody likes being forced from their home; it’s simply human nature. “It’s just hard to tell where we’re going, what we’re going to do,” said Wing.




  The longtime captain and boatsman also made the droll suggestion that he could build an ark.




  Hilda Ames, who taught many of Flagstaff’s roughly forty grammar school, primary school, and high school pupils, agreed that “I’ve always lived here. It’s hard to think of any other place to live.”




  A woman described as Mrs. Kenneth Taylor—a great-great granddaughter of one of the earliest settlers Rufus Viles—also talked of earlier, happier days, the beauty of which “make us realize (that) our homes here are more precious than ever before.”




  Letters also inundated local newspapers, with townspeople decrying the loss and saying there could be no compensation. One writer described communities “whose inhabitants live in greater happiness, satisfaction, and far more tranquil peace of mind than . . . harried city folk can imagine.”




  A FINAL GOODBYE




  In the summer of 1949, townspeople did, indeed, hold their Old Home Day, which was covered by newspapers from Maine to Massachusetts. A headline from July 3, 1949 in The Boston Globe proclaimed: “Maine Village About to Die Has Farewell Celebration.”




  Roughly 300 people met in the town, which by then was surrounded by an empty forest, tree stumps, and “a pall of smoke from burning brush” as workers cleared the land of debris to make way for river flowage. The twenty-year-old schoolhouse was being dismantled, its various contents—textbooks, chairs, desks, a radio-phonograph—going to nearby schools or sold to the highest bidder. Many other structures had already been razed or moved, and all those that remained would be flooded. The town outskirts were empty and foreboding.




  The two-day community event ended up being a farewell and reunion of sorts, with current and former residents reminiscing about their fond memories of the town and the pleasant times they had there. Rogers-Bull recalled that her family didn’t have indoor plumbing or electricity but didn’t feel underprivileged; she also described skiing and sliding on Eaton Hill, skating on and swimming in Flagstaff Pond, and many festive school socials and plays.




  As reported by The Morning Sentinel, the Rev. Arthur R. Mac-Dougall Jr. described the so-called festivities as a solemn Independence Day and a “seeming burial.” The eyes of the old were said to be “dimmed with tears.” Others questioned what would become of the town’s renowned flagstaff, and it was suggested that it be left where it was as an homage to the town and its history.




  The flagstaff did stay in place for a time but broke off and fell into the lake. It was salvaged by Captain Wing, who towed it up the lake in his boat and erected it at his new home a half-dozen or so miles from its longtime, original location.




  Construction workers were living in abandoned homes; the general store remained open to serve them; the roads were plowed and kept open for the winter; the school bus kept running to carry workers’ children to nearby schools. Abandoned dooryards were filled with trucks and machinery, and salvaged lumber was stacked everywhere.




  As fate crept over Flagstaff and Dead River like a suffocating shawl, newspapers up and down the coast kept close tabs on events:




  “Doomed Town Waits for the End. Uncertain and Thinking of Children. Cord Hanging Over Heads for Over Twenty Years at Last Severed. Area will be Evacuated by Fall. The inhabitants of Flagstaff are watching the flooding. One lady said ‘Other towns don’t want us, their schools are full, their homes aren’t available and where will our men find work? The really old people are the most worried of all, especially about graves.’”




  “Creeping, Watery Death to Smother Beauties of Spring in Rural Flagstaff. All Roads are Cut. Residents Gone as Reservoir Grows.”




  “Dead River, Flagstaff Written Off. Flooded. Hamlets are Legally Dead.”




  Some “bitter-ended citizens,” including Al Wing and Mae Savage, refused to raze or move their homes; they were finally forced to evacuate, the last to leave the condemned town. Black and white photos show their homes half-swallowed in water up to their porches, standing defiant to the bitter end. Consumed by the floodwaters, they eventually broke apart—symbolic images of the town’s very end.




  In March 1951, once the floodwaters had reached their height, Governor Frederick G. Payne signed two bills surrendering Flagstaff and Dead River. They took effect immediately, and the two towns had not only disappeared—they were officially written off.




  A large segment of the displaced population did rebuild a new settlement in Eustis that they named New Flagstaff. Those who know where to look can find remnants of their old buildings—even windows from the church. Families can visit their dead in their new places of rest.




  Many remaining survivors—children at the time—describe being “scattered” and, in a sense, untethered. Their family homes are no more; they can’t bring their children and grandchildren to even see their general locations because they lie beneath the depths of Flagstaff Lake. Others have decried the sacrilege of having to move their family members’ bodies.




  Marilyn Rogers-Bull recalled hearing adults talk about the imposing dam and the impending move, and “intolerable” thought. “It was a wonderful place to grow up in,” she wrote in The Town Line. “Did you ever stop to think what it would be like to not be able to go back to your home-town?”




  Today, communities that were once described as “postcard” and “picturesque” are no more. Only water ripples over them, dead towns merely offering ghostly whispers from the deep.







  



  FOUR




  HURRICANE ISLANDAbandoned Overnight




  IT WAS LIKENED BY SOME TO THE AFTERMATH OF POMPEII.
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